NO. 22-0333

DO NOT REMOVE IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS /// F//

ESTATE OF SHERRY CLINE TILLEY, by and through Jesse Graybeal, Candice Cline, Bradley Graybeal, and Ernest Cline, Individually and as Co-Administrators of the Estate of Sherry Cline Tilley,

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

v.

JUSTIN JUSTICE,

Defendant Below, Respondent.



Civil Action No.: 09-C-30-M Honorable Rudolph J. Murensky, II



PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioners:

Stephen P. New (#7756) Amanda J. Taylor (#11635) New, Taylor & Associates 430 Harper Park Drive P.O. Box 5516 Beckley, WV 25801

Telephone: (304) 250-6017 Facsimile: (304) 250-6012

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The Circuit Court of McDowell Count erred in applying the doctrine of laches and finding the judgment entered on behalf of the Plaintiffs unenforceable. The proper course for the Circuit Court, if it found the default proper but that the judgment against the Defendant should be set aside, was to set the matter for a hearing on damages.
- II. The Circuit Court of McDowell County erred in denying the Plaintiffs due process by not setting the matter for a hearing on damages or setting aside both the default and the judgment and setting the matter for trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose from an automobile accident on August 19, 2008, which ultimately resulted in the death of Sherry Cline Tilley on November 7, 2008. The Plaintiffs below, the Estate of Sherry Cline Tilley, by and through Jesse Graybeal, Candice Cline, Bradley Graybeal, and Ernest Cline¹, Individually and as Co-Administrators of the Estate of Sherry Cline Tilley ("Petitioners") sought compensatory damages from the Defendant below Justin Justice ("Respondent") and others.

Petitioners filed the *Complaint* in this action on March 4, 2009. (*Complaint* ("*Compl.*"), Appendix Record ("A.R.") 7-13). The *Complaint* asserted the following claims: Count I – Negligence/Gross Negligence/Reckless Indifference/Wanton Disregard in Design, Manufacture, and Distribution; Count II – Product Liability; Count III – Breach of Warranty; and, Count IV – Recklessness and Negligence of Defendant Drivers/Negligent Entrustment/Violation of West Virginia Motor Laws. Counts I through III were asserted against defendants Chrysler, LLC, Chrysler Motors, LLC, and Mitsubishi Motors North America, Inc. Count IV was asserted

1

¹ Ernest Cline has passed away. Petitioners will amend the pleadings in accordance with the Rules of Civil Procedure and file a Suggestion of Death.

against defendants Wendell K. Russell, Jr., Justin Justice, and Michelle Mitchell. (Id.)

Petitioners alleged that on August 29 2008, Petitioners' decedent Sherry Cline Tilley was driving her 1993 Dodge Colt on State Route 16 in an area commonly known and referred to as Wolf Pen on the Welch-Pineville Road. (Compl., A.R. 8 at ¶ 9 and Final Order Granting Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment ("Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside"), A.R. 151 at ¶ 2.) At that time, Sherry Cline Tilley lawfully and properly exited the driveway of Tommy Graybeal, crossed the southbound lane of Route 16, and turned north. (Compl., A.R. 8 at ¶ 10.)

At the same time, defendant Wendell K. Russell Jr. was operating Michelle Mitchell's 1998 Ford ZX2 recklessly and negligently south on Route 16 being followed by and/or racing Respondent and further alleged that the speeds of these vehicles exceeded 80 miles per hour in a 55 mile per hour zone. (Compl., A.R. 8 at ¶¶ 11-12 and Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 151 at ¶ 3.) As the defendants Russell and Respondent traveled south at alarmingly high rates of speed, the Mitchell/Russell vehicle traveled across the northbound lane of traffic and violently crashed into the vehicle of Sherry Cline Tilley causing the vehicles to collide with the guardrail on the northbound lane of traffic. (Compl., A.R. 8 at ¶ 12.)

Petitioners' decedent was taken from the scene of the accident via ambulance to Charleston Area Medical Center for the serious life-threatening injuries to her upper and lower body. (Compl., A.R. 9 at ¶ 15.) She sustained the following injuries as a direct and proximate result of the defendants' misconduct: grade I spleen laceration; temporal contusion/traumatic brain injury; multiple facial fractures; pneumomediastinum/bilateral pneumothoraces; bilateral multiple rib fractures; right pulmonary contusion, right upper extremity radius/ulna dislocation from the humerus; bilateral femur fractures; bilateral tibia and fibula fractures; right pubic fracture; left sacral ala fracture; and, pelvic hemorrhage. (Id.) These injuries resulted in her death

on November 7, 2008. (Id.)

The *Complaint* alleged, with respect to defendants Wendell K. Russell Jr. and Respondent that they were liable for the damages suffered by Petitioners due to defendants' recklessness and negligence. (*Compl.*, A.R. 12 at ¶ 34 and *Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside*, A.R. 152 at ¶ 4.) The defendants' reckless and negligent conduct included reckless driving in violation of West Virginia Code Section 17C-5-3, driving too fast for road conditions in violation of West Virginia Code Section 17C-6-1; and, failure to yield right of way in violation of West Virginia Code Section 17C-9-3. (*Id.*) Petitioners alleged that defendant Michelle Mitchell negligently entrusted her vehicle to defendant Wendell K. Russell Jr. (*Compl.*, A.R. 12 at ¶ 35.) As a result of the defendants' recklessness and negligence, Sherry Cline Tilley experienced physical pain and suffering, mental anguish and loss of enjoyment of life, death and disfigurement. (*Compl.*, A.R. 12 at ¶ 36.)

More specifically, Petitioners sought the following damages: for damages that Sherry Cline Tilley suffered prior to her death, past medical expenses totaling \$160,000.00; loss of earning capacity; pain and suffering; mental anguish and emotional distress; loss of enjoyment of life; scarring and disfigurement; loss of earning capacity; pain and suffering; mental anguish and emotional distress; and, loss of enjoyment of life. (Compl., A.R. 12-13 at ¶ 38.) Additionally, damages were requested in the form of burial and funeral expenses totaling approximately \$15,000 and sorrow, grief, loss of kindly offices suffered by the relatives and beneficiaries of Sherry Cline Tilley. (Id.) Petitioners also sought punitive damages, prejudgment interest and postjudgment interest. (Compl., A.R. 13.)

Respondent was personally served by Nathan A. Glanden ("Glanden") with the Complaint. (*Declaration of Service*, A.R. 24.) Respondent testified during the February 18, 2022

hearing regarding his Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment and for Stay that he spoke with the investigator and process server Glanden regarding the accident. (Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 152 at ¶ 5 and Transcript of Proceedings Held on February 18, 2022 ("Feb. 2022 Trans."), A.R. 111, lines 16-24 - 112, lines 1-10.) The Circuit Court determined that Respondent was personally served with a copy of the summons and the Complaint on April 10, 2009 by Glanden at a bluish grey singlewide trailer located off Welch and Pineville Road in accordance with W. Va. R. Civ. Pro. (4) (d) (1) (A). (Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 165-166 at ¶ 10.)

The claims against the other defendants were settled and were dismissed in 2010. On August 10, 2010, Petitioners filed a *Motion for Default Judgment* against Respondent for failure to plead or otherwise defend. (*Motion for Default Judgment*, A.R. 29-31.) A hearing on the motion was held on October 25, 2010. (*Transcript of Proceedings Held on October 25, 2010, 2022 ("Oct. 2010 Trans."*), A.R. 37-46.) The Respondent did not appear. (*Oct. 2010 Trans.*, A.R. 41, lines 14-17.)

The Circuit Court of McDowell County orally granted the motion. (*Id.* at lines 23-24.) The Court determined the special damages totaled \$1,519,534.00 (One Million Five Hundred Nineteen Thousand Five Hundred and Thirty-Four Dollars) and determined that judgment would be in the amount of \$3,750,000.00 (Three Million Seven Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars). (*Oct. 2010 Trans.*, A.R. 44, lines 10-11 and 17-18.) The amount of \$500,000.00 (Five Hundred Thousand Dollars) from the award was designated as punitive damages. (*Id.*, A.R. 44, lines 19-24 - 45, line 1.) The Circuit Court requested an *Affidavit for Default Judgment* with an Order. (*Id.*, A.R. 42, lines 17-22.)

An incorrect *Final Judgment Order* was entered on November 20, 2019, the Court not having received the affidavit. (*Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside*, A.R. 158, ¶ 23 and *Final*

Judgment Order, A.R. 69-70.) This order was not appealed nor was a Rule 60(b) motion filed. (Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 158-159, ¶ 24.) The Clerk sent a copy of the Order to the post office box address and there is no evidence it was returned. (Id.)

Petitioners' counsel, Stephen New, by letter of March 2, 2021, requested that certain clerical errors in the November 20, 2019 Final Judgment Order be corrected. (Id. at A.R. 159, ¶ 25.) Petitioners' current counsel, Clinton Smith, requested a hearing regarding the correction of the order and the hearing was held on September 14, 2021. (Id. at ¶¶ 26-27 and Transcript of Proceedings Held on September 14, 2021 ("Sept. 2021 Trans.", A.R. 47-66.) The documents were mailed to Respondent's post office box address, but the address was no longer a valid address for Respondent. (Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 159-160, ¶ 27.)

The Circuit Court, having received the Affidavit, entered an Amended Final Judgment Order on November 10, 2021, which was mailed to Respondent at the invalid post office box address. (Id. at A.R. 160, ¶ 28 and Amended Final Judgment Order, A.R. 72-74.) Judgment was granted against the Respondent in the amount of \$3,961,904.41 (Three Million Nine Hundred Sixty-One Thousand Nine Hundred Four Dollars and Forty-One Cents), which included compensatory damages, non-economic damages, punitive damages, and pre-judgment interest and post–judgment interest beginning in November 2021. (Id. at A.R. 161, ¶ 30 and Amended Final Judgment Order, A.R. 73-74.)

The Circuit Court noted that Respondent's counsel entered a notice of appearance on November 22, 2021 and the *Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment and for Stay* was filed on December 8, 2021. (*Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside*, A.R. 161, ¶¶ 31-32 and *Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment and Stay* ("*Motion to Set Aside*"), A.R. 78-81.) Respondent argued, without attaching an affidavit, that he was prejudiced by the length of time between the hearing

on Petitioners' Motion for Default Judgment and the entry of the November 10, 2021 Order. (Motion to Set Aside, A.R. 78 at ¶ 4.) Respondent contended that the only document he ever received was the November 10, 2021 Order. (Id., A.R. 79 at ¶ 6.) Further, Respondent proffered that the action should have been dismissed pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure 41 for inactivity. (Id., A.R. 80 at ¶ 12.) Liability was denied. (Id., A.R. 80 at ¶ 15.)

Respondent also contended "[t]hat the statute of limitations for the collection of a judgment has passed since the Court announced default judgment in 2010" (*Id.*, A.R. 80 at ¶ 16.) Respondent requested that the default judgment be set aside and the case dismissed. (*Id.*, A.R. 80.) The *Motion for Stay* requested a stay until the Circuit Court resolved the *Motion to Set Aside*. (*Id.*, A.R. 81.)

A hearing on this motion was held February 18, 2022. (Transcript of Proceedings Held on February 18, 2022, ("Feb. 2022 Trans."), A.R. 82-148.) On March 11, 2022, the Circuit Court entered a Final Order Granting Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. (Final Order Granting Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment ("Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside"), A.R. 150-175.) The Circuit Court refused to set aside the default, however, applying the doctrine of laches, the Court declared the judgment previously entered unenforceable. (Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 174, ¶¶ 31-33.)

Respondent provided testimony at the hearing. The Circuit Court found that Respondent admitted to being present at the time the accident occurred, but denied engaging in any racing. Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 152, ¶ 5.) Respondent also admitted to speaking with investigator and process server Nathan A. Gladen regarding the accident. (Id.,) The vehicle being operated by Respondent at the time of the accident was insured, but Respondent never contacted his insurance company regarding the accident. (Id., A.R. 152-153 at ¶ 6.)

Respondent testified that he lived with his brother Dustin Justice and his father Andy Justice at the time of the accident. (*Id.*, A.R. 153 at ¶ 7 and 9.) Respondent and his brother resembled one another at that time. (*Id.*, A.R. 153 at ¶ 7.) The Justice family lived on Welch / Pineville Road in a singlewide trailer and the mailing address for all three of them was P.O. Box 1846, Pineville, West Virginia 24874. (*Id.*, A.R. 153 at ¶ 9.) Respondent further testified that his brother was a drug addict and his father was an alcoholic and illiterate. (*Feb. 2022 Trans.*, A.R. 113, lines 22-23 and 119, lines 23-24.) Respondent further testified that he was not personally served and believes his brother Dustin was the individual served with the *Summons* and *Complaint.* (*Id.*, A.R. 153-154 at ¶ 10.)

The Circuit Court, in reviewing the file, determined that Respondent was sent copies of twelve (12) documents during the pendency of the civil action at his P.O. Box address. (*Id.*, A.R. 154-155 at ¶ 10.) Further, the Clerk for the Circuit Court mailed the *Stipulation and Agreed Order of Dismissal* entered January 11, 2010 to the post office box address and it was not returned. (*Id.*, A.R. 154-155 at ¶ 11.)

The Circuit Court noted that settlements were entered into between Petitioners and the other defendants in the civil action. (*Id.*, A.R. 155-156 at ¶¶ 13-15.) Interestingly, the Court stated that Petitioners received a "paltry sum" from defendant Wendell K. Russell, Jr.'s insurer and that the settlement with defendant Mitsubishi Motors represented "a little more than 18.6 percent of the default judgment." (*Id.*, A.R. 155 at fns. 7-8.) These observations are somewhat perplexing considering the Circuit Court originally awarded the damage amount, which the Court now appears to consider excessive.

The Circuit Court further acknowledged that the *Motion for Default Judgment* was sent on July 26, 2010 by certified mail to Respondent's post office box address, even though the

motion did not need to be served because Respondent did not enter an appearance. (Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 156, ¶ 17 and fn. 9.) Respondent testified that he was still living at the singlewide trailer with his father and brother at that time. (Id. at ¶ 17.) A notice of hearing and an amended notice of hearing regarding the Motion for Default Judgment were sent by certified mail and the green cards were signed by Respondent's brother and father. (Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 156-157, ¶¶ 18 and 19.) Respondent admitted receiving mail at that post office box address until sometime in 2018 or 2019. (Feb. 2022 Trans., A.R. 110, lines 12-18.)

After reviewing this course of events, the Circuit Court determined "[a]lthough he denied any knowledge of the pendency of this matter at the times relevant (which this Court FINDS not credible), Defendant Justin Justice admitted during the February 18, 2022 hearing that his father and his brother likely would have inquired of him as to why he was receiving numerous correspondence from practitioners of the bar." (*Id.*, A.R. 157, ¶ 20 (emphasis in original).) Concomitantly, the Circuit Court found that "the prior grant of *default* was properly made and therefore will not be set aside." (*Id.*, A.R. 167, ¶ 20 (footnote omitted).)

The Circuit Court then stated that the *Motion for Default Judgment* was granted contingent upon Petitioners' counsel submitting an affidavit that Respondent was not an infant, incompetent person, or a convict and a proposed order reflecting the Court's oral rulings. (*Id.*, A.R. 158, ¶ 22.) The affidavit was submitted on October 6, 2021. (*Id.*)

Despite testifying that he did not receive any of the other numerous documents in this case, Respondent's counsel represented that Respondent received the *Amended Final Judgment Order* by "happenstance," that is, a postal carrier knew Respondent and his address. (*Id.* at A.R. 161, ¶ 33.) Further representations by counsel included that Respondent was "judgment proof" at

the time of the civil action and could have filed bankruptcy or placed assets in the name of his significant other. (*Id.* at A.R. 162, ¶ 34.) Additionally, Respondent claimed to have assets acquired through his business over the years and could not seek bankruptcy protection now. (*Id.*) The only evidence offered regarding this issue, either by way of an affidavit by Respondent or by testimony at trial, was that Respondent did not own property or a business at the time of the litigation. (*Feb. 2022 Trans.*, A.R. 138, line 24-139, line 6.) The following exchange subsequently occurred:

Q by MR. LUPARDUS: But now you do, right?

THE COURT: Well, maybe he owned so little he didn't really care whether he got sued or not.

MR. LUPARDUS: Well, there's no evidence to that.

THE COURT: Well, I know but we've just got a lot of **speculation** going on thru here.

(Id. at A.R. 139, lines7-12 (emphasis added).)

After this exchange, no evidence was presented regarding Respondent's alleged change in his financial condition. Despite failing to provide any evidence in support, Respondent argued that laches should bar enforcement of the judgment due to the length of time that passed between the hearing and the November 2021 judgment, which resulted in prejudice to him. (*Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside*, A.R. 162, ¶ 35.) Despite not having any evidence presented, the Circuit Court concluded that "Defendant Justin Justice has acquired certain assets by virtue of engaging in a successful business for many years." (*Id.* at A.R. 173, ¶ 30.)

As previously stated, the Circuit Court concluded that Respondent was personally served with the *Summons* and *Complaint* and service of process was sufficient. (*Id.* at A.R. 167, ¶ 14 (footnotes omitted).) The Court held that the grant of default was proper and would not be set aside. (*Id.*) The Circuit Court concluded, however, that the enforcement of the judgment was

barred by the doctrine of laches. (Id.)

In reaching this conclusion, the Circuit Court discussed, in a footnote, the applicability of W.Va. Code §38-3-18, which sets a ten-year statute of limitations for the enforcement of a judgment. (Id., at fn. 15.) The Court noted that Respondent's motion asserted that the statute of limitations precluded enforcement of the November 2021 judgment. (Id.) Respondent's motion suggested the statute began to run on October 25, 2010 when the Court made an oral grant of judgment. (Id.) The Circuit Court found, however, that the statute of limitations began to run on judgment was entered on November 20, 2019 and, in the alternative found that the statute of limitations began to run on November 10, 2021. (Id.) Respondent made no challenge to these alternative determinations of the dates upon which the statute of limitations began to run.

The Circuit Court then proceeded to consider whether enforcement of the judgment was barred by laches, acknowledging the general precedent that laches applies only when a delay results in placing the other party at a disadvantage. (*Id.* at A.R. 168, ¶ 16.) The Court concluded that since the October 2010 hearing, Respondent materially changed his position. (*Id.* at A.R. 173, ¶ 29.) Respondent went from being "judgment proof" to acquiring assets that could not be protected through bankruptcy. (*Id.*) The Court engaged in the following reasoning:

The default judgment would have in favor of Plaintiffs would have been essentially uncollectible at the time it should have been entered in 2010. It is only now after Defendant Justin Justice has acquired certain assets by virtue of engaging in a successful business for many years do the Plaintiffs seek to enforce their rights against him.

The Circuit Court ruled that "[g]iven the totality of the circumstances, Defendant Justin Justice's contest of the allegations contained in the 'Complaint' and the respective amount of the settlements that Plaintiffs received compared to the amount of default judgment, equity and

fundamental fairness compel the Court to **FIND** that enforcement of the 'Amended Final Judgment Order' should be barred by the doctrine of laches." (*Id.* at A.R. 174, ¶ 30.)

The Court relied upon Rule 60(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, "any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. (Id. at ¶ 32.) The Court found that the judgment was barred by the doctrine of laches and unenforceable. (Id. at ¶ 33.) Petitioners were "enjoined, restrained, and prohibited from attempting to execute on the November 10, 2021 'Amended Final Judgment Order.'" (Id. at A.R. 174.)

Petitioners filed a Motion to Set Aside, Amend, or Alter Judgment on March 21, 2022 contending that the Circuit Court erroneously applied the doctrine of laches; denied Petitioners due process of law by dismissing their claim; and for such other grounds as would be assigned at a hearing on the motion. (Motion to Set Aside, Amend, or Alter Judgment, A.R. 176-178.) On April 1, 2022, the Circuit Court denied the motion without hearing. (Final Order Denying Motion to Set Aside, Amend, or Alter Judgment, A.R. 187-192.) Petitioners filed a Notice of Appeal on April 29, 2022.

In this appeal, Petitioners respectfully request that this Honorable Court reverse the Circuit Court's prohibition against enforcement of the *Amended Final Judgment Order* on November 10, 2021.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"[A] right yet good under the statute is not lost by *laches*." *Condry v. Pope*, 152 W. Va. 714, 722, 166 S.E.2d 167, 172 (1969) (citation omitted). "If a legal right gets into equity, the statute governs." *Id.* Petitioners have a legal right to compensation for the damages caused by the wrongful acts of Respondent. The legal right to execute on the judgment against Respondent is protected by statute for a minimum of ten years. *West Virginia Code § 38-3-18* provides that

"[o]n a judgment, execution may be issued within ten years after the date thereof." Therefore, the Circuit Court erred in applying laches, rather than the statute of limitations, to find that the November 10, 2021 *Amended Final Judgment Order* against Respondent was unenforceable and enjoining Petitioners from attempting to execute on that judgment.

Further, the Circuit Court concluded that Respondent had a change in his financial condition but had no evidence upon which to base that conclusion, only the argument of counsel. It is axiomatic that his counsel's arguments are not evidence." *Hampden Coal, LLC v. Varney*, 240 W. Va. 284, 296, 810 S.E.2d 286, 298 (2018). Therefore, the Circuit's grant of Respondent's *Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment* was clearly erroneous.

Most importantly, the Circuit Court denied Petitioners' due process rights. Petitioners have a protected property interest in the judgment for damages. The Court correctly declined to set aside the entry of default, even finding that Respondent was not a credible witness, but determined that the judgment should not be enforced. The bases for this determination included a finding that Respondent had acquired assets since the judgment and the Court's disagreement with the amount of damages the Court previously awarded. Thus, the Court acted arbitrarily in deciding to prohibit the enforcement of the judgment.

A definite miscarriage of justice occurred in the present case. Respondent ignored the litigation and now complains about the consequences of his actions as if Petitioners' loss of a loved one was nothing more than an inconvenience to him. Respondent had motor vehicle insurance at the time of the accident. Yet, his actions deprived Petitioners of even the opportunity to receive compensation paid by that insurance policy. The resulting precedent of the Circuit Court that disregards the statute of limitations, applies laches, and denies Petitioners their due process rights cannot stand. The decision should be reversed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The issues in this Appeal involve assignments of error addressing the improper application of the equitable doctrine of laches in the face of a statutory time limit on the execution of a judgment, thus presenting an issue that requires clarification under West Virginia law. Therefore, a memorandum decision is not appropriate and oral argument under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure is appropriate.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MCDOWELL COUNTY ERRED IN APPLYING THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES AND FINDING THE JUDGMENT ENTERED ON BEHALF OF THE PLAINTIFFS UNENFORCEABLE. THE PROPER COURSE FOR THE CIRCUIT COURT, IF IT FOUND THE DEFAULT PROPER BUT THAT THE JUDGMENT AGAINST THE DEFENDANT SHOULD BE SET ASIDE, WAS TO SET THE MATTER FOR A HEARING ON DAMAGES.

The Circuit Court of McDowell County concluded that Respondent was served with the summons and *Complaint*, failed to timely respond, and ruled that the default entered was proper and could not be set aside. Respondent did not appeal this ruling. The Circuit Court then found that enforcement of the default judgment was barred by the doctrine of laches and unenforceable rather than vacate the judgment and hold a hearing on damages. The reasoning underlying this determination is flawed, erroneous, and wrongfully shortens the statute of limitations governing Petitioners' legal right to attempt to collect on the judgment. "[A] right yet good under the statute is not lost by *laches*." *Condry v. Pope*, 152 W. Va. 714, 722, 166 S.E.2d 167, 172 (1969).

W.Va. Code § 38-3-18 grants Petitioners a minimum of ten years to attempt to collect on the judgment. When an unsatisfied execution attempt occurs within the ten years, "other executions may be issued on such judgment within ten years from the return day of the last

execution issued thereon, on which there is no return by an officer, or which has been returned unsatisfied." *Id.* The Circuit Court's ruling negated the statute.

Further, under the Circuit Court's ruling, any time a judgment debtor acquired assets during the ten year period after entry of judgment collection of that judgment would be barred by laches due to the defendant's change in financial circumstances. The Court erroneously justified the decision by relying upon the Court's speculation that Petitioners only seek to enforce their rights against Respondent after Respondent has acquired assets. (*Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside*, A.R. 173, ¶ 30.) Obviously, if a judgment debtor does not have assets, no reason exists to attempt to collect the judgment. The law does not require the doing of a useless act. Moreover, one can conclude that the legislative intent underlying the statute is to exactly allow for those circumstances, that is, a judgment debtor becoming solvent and collectible. Furthermore, the Circuit Court's logic is flawed in that it assumes that Respondent, who denied receiving every document served upon him, would have become aware of the judgment in 2010 in order to file bankruptcy or protect any assets he may acquire.

A ruling on a motion to vacate judgment is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *Delapp v. Delapp (In re Delapp)*, 213 W. Va. 757, 758, 584 S.E.2d 899, 900 (2003). In determining that the entry of default should not be set aside, the Circuit Court considered "whether 'good cause' under Rule 55(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure has been met." Syl. Pt. 4, in part, *Hardwood Grp. v. LaRocco*, 219 W. Va. 56, 631 S.E.2d 614 (2006). Thus, the Circuit Court considered:

- (1) the degree of prejudice suffered by the plaintiff from the delay in answering;
- (2) the presence of material issues of fact and meritorious defenses; (3) the significance of the interests at stake; (4) the degree of intransigence on the part of the defaulting party; and (5) the reason for the defaulting party's failure to timely file an answer.

(Id.)

In order to vacate a default judgment upon a Rule 60(b) motion, the same first four factors should be considered and "a showing that a ground set out under Rule 60(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure has been satisfied" is required. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 3 (citing, Syl. Pt. 3, in part, *Parsons v. Consolidated Gas Supply Corp.*, 163 W. Va. 464, 256 S.E.2d 758 (1979) and Syl. Pt. 5).

In refusing the set aside the entry of default, the Circuit Court determined that consideration of the four factors for demonstrating "good cause" pursuant to Rule 55(b) weighed in favor of the Petitioners. Thus, the Circuit Court's decision to prohibit enforcement of the judgment was based solely on the Court's determination that laches applied and justified relief from the operation of the judgment. (*Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside*, A.R. 173, ¶ 32.)

However, the Circuit Court was prevented from applying the doctrine of laches to prohibit enforcement of the judgment because the minimum ten year statute of limitations set forth in W.Va. Code § 38-3-18 applied. The Court's consideration of that statute was relegated to a footnote wherein the Court determined that the final order was entered on November 20, 2019 or, alternatively, November 10, 2021. (Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 167, fn. 15.) No consideration was given to whether the Court could apply the doctrine of laches in the face of a statute of limitations regarding the right to enforce a judgment.

Also relegated to a footnote was the Circuit Court's discussion of Respondent's contention that the case *sub judice* should "have been dismissed pursuant to the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 41 long ago for inactivity, and the Defendant was denied due process by the lack of said dismissal." (*Mot. to Set Aside*, A.R. 80, ¶ 12.) West Virginia Trial Court Rule 16.13(a) requires the circuit clerk to periodically inform the circuit court on the status

of cases which may be dismissed pursuant to W. Va. R. Civ. P. 41(b). W. Va. T.C.R., Rule 16.13(b) places upon Circuit Courts the duty to "effectuate . . . timely disposition of all cases assigned to them" and "to control their dockets." The Circuit Court did not "address these general and abstract assertions and arguments given the Court's resolution of the motion." (Order Granting Mot. to Set Aside, A.R. 168, fn. 16.)

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