ESTATE OF SHERRY CLINE TILLEY, by and through Jesse Graybeal, Candice Cline, Bradley Graybeal, and Ernest Cline, Individually

and as Co-Administrators of the Estate of Sherry Cline Tilley,

JUSTIN JUSTICE,

v.

Plaintiffs below, Petitioners,

Civil Action No. 09-C-30-M Honorable Rudolph J. Murensky, II

Defendant below, Respondent

DEFENDANT'S REPLY BRIEF

Timothy P. Lupardus (WV # 6252) GUARDIAN AD LITEM Lupardus Law Office PO Box 1680 Pineville, WV 24874 Phone: 304-732-0250

Fax: 304-732-0252 tim@luparduslaw.com

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of McDowell County properly analyzed and applied the Doctrine of Laches. The controlling element of the equitable defense of laches is prejudice. Maynard v. BOE of Wayne County, 178 W.Va 53, 59, 357 S.E.2d 246, 253 (1987). A court applying laches may choose to employ an analogy to the statute of limitations, but the time applied may also be longer or shorter, depending on a case by case basis. See, Maynard, 178 W.Va 53, 59, 357 S.E.2d 246, 253 (1987) (citing Ruckman v. Cox, 63 W.Va 74, 78, 59 S.E.2d 760, 761 (1907)).

Petitioner took 9 years to submit an order without an attorney affidavit. Had anyone attempted to enforce that order, it was both incorrect and subject to being vacated because the contingency was not achieved (attorney affidavit). Depending on which default judgement order you are looking at, the Petitioner took somewhere between over 9 and over 11 years to get an order entered. With the Circuit Court's finding that the default order was contingent on an attorney affidavit, the delay was really the eleven years.

During that inexcusable and inexplicable delay, Respondent's circumstances changed through the virtue of his good work, and so the delay places him as a great disadvantage.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The issue at hand is the proper application of the doctrine of laches and the inequity of a delay of more than a decade between default judgement hearing and the ultimate submission of an attorney affidavit and proposed order. The statute of limitation on the enforcement of a judgement is irrelevant as there is no dispute that the Petitioners never tried to collect anything until fall of 2021. The continuing role of laches as a sound equitable source of relief from unexcused dilatory conduct is important enough for a Rule 19 argument and written opinion.

IV. ARGUMENT

The McDowell Circuit Court got this one right. It is not equitable to sit on one's right to a judgement for a decade, give or take, and then only try to enforce it after the other party, through his hard work and industry, makes a little something of himself.

The application of the doctrine of laches is nothing new in our jurisprudence and offers relief to one who is significantly prejudiced by another's delay in exercising a right, claim or judgement. Delay which places another party at a disadvantage constitutes laches. Syl Pt 3., Carter v. Carter, 107 W.Va, 394, 148 S.E.2d 378 (1029). The doctrine of laches applies even where a statute of limitations may not. Syl Pt. 2, Condry v. Pope, 152 W.Va. 714, 166 S.E.2d 167 (1969).

This case, from October 25, 2010, languished on the Circuit Court's docket for nine years without any activity whatsoever. It should have been dismissed under Rule 41(b) eight or nine times before the next activity. Then, when Petitioner acted at all, Petitioner did so incorrectly without the attorney affidavit upon which the Circuit Court ruled the judgement was contingent.

In fact, the attorney affidavit was filed almost eleven years after the Circuit Court ordered it done.

During that delay, the Circuit Court found, after a hearing during which the court entertained both testimony and proffer, that There was no explanation for Petitioner's delay of more than eleven years between the October 25, 2010 and the eventual submission of Petitioner's attorney affidavit.

The Court further found that, "The default judgement in favor of Plaintiffs would have been essentially uncollectible at the time it should have been entered in 2010. It is only now after [Respondent] Justin Justice has acquired certain assets by virtue of engaging in a successful business for many years do the Plaintiffs seek to enforce their rights against him" See, Appendix at 173.

And the Court concluded that, "[Respondent] Justin Justice would undoubtably suffer great prejudice, extreme disadvantage, and manifest harm from Plaintiff's dilatory actions. See, Appendix at 173.

On these facts, the Circuit Court was right to sustain the defense of laches and bar enforcement of the judgement order. We cannot allow a plaintiff to sit idly by for nine years to seek entry of a judgement while an impoverished defendant makes something of himself following the American dream. Here, the defense of laches is appropriate, See, Maynard, 178 W.Va. At 60, 357 S.E.2d at 254 (citing 2 J. Pomeroy, A Treatise on Equity Jurisprudence Sections 419a, 419b, 419d, (5th ed 1941) (for the proposition that laches does not require the expiration of a statute of limitations).

In the case *sub judice*, even when Petitioner finally submitted a proposed order, it was wrong and without the attorney affidavit. In a very real sense, the Petitioner did not comply with

the Court's order until almost eleven years had passed.

To quote the Circuit Court, "[l]aches is an equitable defense, and its application depends upon the facts of each case." (Citing ex rel DHHR v. Carl Lee H, 196 W.Va 369, 374, 472 S.E.2d 815, 820 (1996). And quoting the West Virginia Supreme Court, "Laches is a delay in the assertion of a right which works to the disadvantage of another ..." Syl Pt. 4, ex rel DHHR v. Carl Lee H, 196 W.Va 369, 374, 472 S.E.2d 815, 820 (1996).

The order from which this appeal was taken is not erroneous. Any decision to the contrary essentially deletes the doctrine of laches from jurisprudence. As the West Virginia Supreme Court stated in Syl Pt 3, Carter v Price, 85 W.Va 744, 102 S.E. 685 (1920) and more recently in Syl Pt 2, Mundy v. Arcuri, 165 W.Va 128, 267 S.E.2d 454 (1980):

"Where a party knows his rights or is cognizant of his interest in a particular subject-matter, but takes no steps to enforce the same until the condition of the other party has, in good faith, become so changed, that he cannot be restored to his former state if the right be then enforced, delay become inequitable, and operates as estoppel against the assertion of the right . . . When a court of equity sees negligence on one side and injury therefrom on the other, it is a ground for denial of relief."

Respondent would have been fully within his rights to bankrupt that judgement in 2010 or shortly thereafter. Respondent would have been fully within his rights to structure his business, property, and assets to as to protect the same. He could have availed himself of that to avoid loss to the judgement. However, a decade later, he has lost a full decade of opportunity to protect himself and to avail himself of legal opportunities to advance his interests.

V. CONCLUSION

A party cannot be allowed to sit on a right such as this for eleven years and wait for another to be so substantially changed that the other is prejudiced and loses rights to self-protection. The Petitioner did not comply with the Court's order for almost a full eleven years. That delay enormously prejudiced the defendant, Justin Justice. The doctrine of laches exists in the law to prevent one party's negligence and resulting delay from exactly the result that would otherwise occur here.

This is a textbook example of laches.